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DECISION


Charles Mackey is subject to discipline because he was placed on the Employee Disqualification List.  He is not subject to discipline for alleged violation of professional standards or violation of professional trust or confidence.
Procedure


On August 25, 2010, the State Board of Nursing (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Mackey.  Mackey filed an answer by certified mail on September 29, 2010.  We held a hearing on February 9, 2011.  Legal Counsel Sharie Hahn represented the Board.  Mackey represented himself.  The case became ready for our decision on May 16, 2011, when we received Mackey’s brief. 
Findings of Fact

1. Mackey is licensed by the Board as a licensed practical nurse (“LPN”).  His license is current and active and was so at all relevant times.

2. Mackey was employed as an LPN by Maxim Healthcare Services in November 2006.

3. From November 23 – 26, 2006, Mackey was assigned to provide home care for J.W., a 26-year-old severely disabled man.  J.W. had cerebral palsy and mental retardation.  His mental age was one to two years old.  His right hand was contracted, and his fingers were curled.
4. J.W.’s mother was his guardian, and Mackey provided care at her home.  She had two video cameras set up to record the care given to her son.  Mackey was aware that video cameras were recording his actions.
5. J.W.’s mother viewed the videotapes of Mackey providing care to her son and concluded that he had abused her son by smacking him and bending his fingers back.  She reported this to the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services (“DHSS”).  She also filed a complaint with the Board on April 2, 2007.

6. On July 30, 2007, the Board of Nursing received a letter from DHSS notifying it that it had investigated the allegations against Mackey and found violations of § 660.300, RSMo.  The letter states that “In accordance with Section 198.088.4, this matter is being referred to the State Board of Nursing for whatever action is deemed appropriate.”

7. DHSS held a hearing to determine whether Mackey’s name should be placed on its Employee Disqualification List (“EDL”).  Among the evidence at the hearing was a videotape that consists of an hour of cuts of footage from the three days of videotape recorded while Mackey was providing care to J.W.

8. On the videotape, Mackey can be seen bending the fingers on J.W.’s right hand several times.  He also can be seen giving three light slaps to J.W.’s left hand.

9. The DHSS hearing officer concluded that Mackey had abused J.W.  On June 12, 2008, DHSS notified the Board that its hearing officer had affirmed the recommendation to place 
Mackey’s name on the EDL for 18 months.  After an appeal to circuit court, Mackey was placed on the EDL from May 4, 2009, through November 4, 2010.
Records under Seal

At the hearing, the Board requested that its exhibits be placed under seal.  The Board’s exhibits contain considerable confidential information, including hotline reports, medical information, and J.W.’s full name.  This information is protected from disclosure by the United States Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”), 45 C.F.R. § 164.502.  We agree that these attachments may be sealed under § 610.021(14),
 which allows us to close “[r]ecords which are protected from disclosure by law[.]” 

We grant the request and place the Board’s exhibits under seal.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear complaints filed by the Board against its licensees.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Mackey has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Board alleges that there is cause for discipline under § 335.066:
2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621 against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by sections 335.011 to 335.096 or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:
*  *  *

(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 335.011 to 335.096;

*   *   *

(12) Violation of any professional trust or confidence;

*   *   *

(15) Placement on an employee disqualification list or other related restriction or finding pertaining to employment within a health-related profession issued by any state or federal government or agency following final disposition by such state or federal government or agency[.]

I.  Subdivisions (5) and (12):  
Professional Standards and Professional Trust

The Board alleges there is cause to discipline Mackey under § 335.066.2(5) and (12).  However, while the Board’s evidence in this case consists almost entirely of hearsay, it does establish that the Board received written notice of Mackey’s alleged patient abuse on April 20, 2007, and July 30, 2007.  The Board filed its complaint with this Commission on August 25, 2010.

Section 324.043 states:
1.  Except as provided in this section, no disciplinary proceeding against any person or entity licensed, registered, or certified to practice a profession within the division of professional registration shall be initiated unless such action is commenced within three years of the date upon which the licensing, registering, or certifying agency received notice of an alleged violation of an applicable statute or regulation. 
2.  For the purpose of this section, notice shall be limited to: 
(1) A written complaint; 
*   *   *

(4) Notice of exhaustion of all extraordinary remedies and appeals in a disciplinary action by a hospital, state licensing, registering or certifying agency, or an agency of the federal government. 

The statute goes on to list certain exemptions and tolling conditions that, based on the record before us, do not apply in this case.

We have no jurisdiction to hear a petition filed out of time.
  If we have no jurisdiction to hear the petition, we cannot reach the merits of the case and can only exercise our inherent power to dismiss.
  Although no party to this case raised the issue, the Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure, which require that the statute of limitations be pleaded,
 do not apply to proceedings before this Commission.
  We may raise the statute of limitations sua sponte.
  It appears that this portion of the Board’s complaint may be untimely, in which case we would dismiss it, and Mackey would not be subject to discipline for his care of J.W.

However, we cannot state with certainty that one of the tolling conditions listed in 
§ 324.043, such as a period of time for considering a settlement agreement,
 does not apply in this case.  While it is the Board that has the burden of proof in this case, including the burden to establish jurisdiction, it would be inefficient to dismiss these allegations, only to find later (upon a motion for reconsideration, for example) that jurisdiction did, in fact, lie.  Therefore, we address the merits of the Board’s allegations regarding Mackey’s care of J.W.


The primary evidence in this case is the videotape of Mackey caring for J.W.  Having reviewed the videotape, we see no evidence of any alleged abuse.  Mackey administered a light slap to the left hand of J.W. three times.  In one case, J.W. was fondling himself.  In two other cases, Mackey was apparently trying to administer medication and J.W.’s arm was in the way.  Mackey’s own explanation for the slaps is that J.W. tried to scratch his genitals and irritated the skin.  Although we agree that this may not be the best nursing technique, we also note that the 
slaps appear to be not punitive or malicious, but corrective, and very light.  This does not seem inappropriate with a person described as having a mental age of about one year old.


Mackey also flexed J.W.’s right hand and fingers several times.  Mackey explains this as “range of motion” exercise for J.W., whose right hand was curled and dysfunctional.  The evidence provided by the Board indicates that there were no physician’s orders for range of motion exercises, but Mackey provided pages from a textbook indicating that range of motion exercises are appropriate for such a patient.  Both pieces of evidence are hearsay.  From our observation, Mackey’s actions do not look inappropriate.  


The Board did submit into evidence an affidavit from a nurse employed with DHSS, Carol Becker.  Becker opined that various shortcomings in nursing care that she observed from three separate videos shown to her “constitute abuse” of J.W.
  Most of these alleged shortcomings, however, are not contained in the Board’s complaint, and we cannot find discipline for uncharged conduct.
  And Mackey submitted his own affidavits from two other nurses, opining that certain of Mackey’s actions did not constitute abuse or neglect.


Incompetency is a general lack of professional ability, or a lack of disposition to use an otherwise sufficient professional ability, to perform in an occupation.
  We follow the analysis of incompetency in Albanna v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts.
  Incompetency is a “state of being” showing that a professional is unable or unwilling to function properly in the profession.


Misconduct means “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”
  Gross negligence is a deviation from professional standards so egregious that it demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty.
  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.
  These are the causes for discipline provided under § 335.066.2(5), and we find no evidence of any of them.

The Board also alleges that Mackey violated a professional trust or confidence.  Professional trust is reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.
  For the same reasons described above, we find no cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(12).
IV.  Subdivision (15):  EDL


The Board proved that Mackey was placed on the EDL.  The evidence establishes that Mackey was placed on the EDL on May 4, 2009, well within the limitations period prescribed by § 324.043.  There is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(15).
Summary


Mackey is subject to discipline under § 335.066.2(15).  He is not subject to discipline under § 335.066.2(5) or (12).

SO ORDERED on June 13, 2011.


________________________________



KAREN A. WINN


Commissioner
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